IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 1999-41

MICHAEL LEEDS and BARBARA LEEDS, as Personal Representatives of the Estate of SUZANNE LEEDS, deceased,

Petitioners,

vs.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY PATROL, an agency of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

I Certificate of Size and Style of Type

Petitioners certify that the instant brief utilizes 14 point Time New Roman.

II Preliminary Statement

This case is before this court for review of a decision of the District Court of

Appeal, Third District, reversing a final judgment rendered upon a jury verdict.

Petitioners Michael and Barbara Leeds as Personal Representatives of the Estate of

Suzanne Leeds, Plaintiffs and Appellees below, shall be referred to jointly as "The

Leeds" and individually by their first names. Steven Pollock as Personal Representative of the Estate of Elissa Pollock, Plaintiff and Appellee below and Petitioner in *Pollock v. Florida Department of Highway Patrol*, Case No. 1999-8, which is consolidated with this case, shall be referred to as "Pollock". Appellant Florida Highway Patrol, Defendant and Appellant below, shall be referred to as "FHP". The Decedent Suzanne Leeds shall be referred to as "Suzanne". The Decedent Elissa Pollock, shall be referred to as "Elissa". The Record on Appeal shall be referred to by the letter "R". The transcript of trial shall be referred to by the letters "Tr". The Roman Numeral following the letters "Tr" shall represent the volume of the trial transcript in which the reference appears.¹ The number following the Roman Numeral shall represent the page in the specific volume in which the reference appears.

III Statement of the Case

The instant lawsuit is a wrongful death action arising from the tragic death of Suzanne and Elissa who were involved in a fatal automobile accident at 3:53 A.M. on September 5, 1993. The accident occurred when a Honda in which Suzanne was

Volume I of the trial transcript taken on July 27, 1998 constitutes Volume VIII of the Record on Appeal. Volume II of the trial transcript taken on July 28, 1998 constitutes Volume IX of the Record on Appeal. Volume III of the trial transcript taken on July 29, 1998 constitutes Volume X of the Record on Appeal. Volume IV of the trial transcript taken on July 30, 1998, constitutes Volume XII of the Record on Appeal. Volume V of the trial transcript taken on July 31, 1998, constitutes Volume XIII of the Record on Appeal.

driving and Elissa was the passenger, crashed in the back of an unlit tractor-trailer stalled in the right lane of State Road 826 just west of 27th avenue.

The applicable pleadings in this cause are The Leeds second amended complaint and FHP's answer thereto (R. 768-780, 790-795). The Leeds alleged that FHP owed Suzanne a duty, *inter alia*, warn motorist of dangerous conditions of and on the roadway; to timely respond to calls and reports of dangerous conditions, to conduct operations in accordance with internal operating procedures and manuals, timely respond to calls from the public and reports of dangerous conditions, and control and direct the movement of traffic on state highways (R. 777-778). The Leeds alleged that FHP Communication Policy 12.04.03 indicated that reports of incidents shall immedi-ately be dispatched to an appropriate trooper (R. 777).

FHP answered the Second Amended Complaint denying the material allegations thereof. By way of affirmative defense, FHP contended that the claim was barred by sovereign immunity as it involved a judgmental or planning level function (R. 193¶16). FHP also contended that there was no common law duty owed to individual citizens for the enforcement of police power functions and therefore there could be no liability of the FHP with regard to the automobile accident (R. 193¶16). FHP did not raise any defense to the effect that the failure of FHP to comply with its internal policies and procedures did not create a duty owed to Plaintiffs.

At the close of Plaintiffs' case, FHP moved for directed verdict (Tr. II-129-131). FHP maintained there was no evidence of a special relationship between either Suzanne or Elissa and FHP to establish the existence of a duty owed to them by FHP (Tr. II-129-130). FHP maintained that the representations made by Duty Officer Cruz to Pedrero could not create a special duty to Suzanne or Elissa (Tr. II-130). The only duty owed by FHP was to timely dispatch an officer, respond to the notification, and remove the disabled vehicle, which duty was owed to the public in general and therefore not actionable by Plaintiffs or Pollack (Tr. II-131). The trial court recognized that the purpose of the FHP was for crash prevention (Tr. II-136). FHP did not maintain in its motion for directed verdict that no duty arose from FHP's failure to comply with its own internal policies and procedures (Tr. II-129-131). To the contrary, FHP urged that the duty created was owed to public at large and not the individual Plaintiffs (Tr. II-130-131). The trial court reserved ruling on the motion for directed verdict (Tr. II-138). The trial court later denied the motion at the close of all the evidence (Tr. IV-87-88).

The jury returned a verdict which found the negligence of FHP and the driver of the tractor-trailer were equally responsible for the accident (Tr. V-40-41). The jury found that Suzanne was not guilty of any negligence (Tr. V-41). Steven Pollock was awarded damages for past mental pain and suffering of \$2,491,666.00 and future mental pain and suffering of \$6,453,704.00 (Tr. V-41). Michael Leeds was awarded damages for past mental pain and suffering of \$835,209.00 and future mental pain and suffering of \$2,151,990.00 (Tr. V-42). Barbara Leeds was awarded past mental pain and suffering of \$1,656,460.00 and future mental pain and suffering of \$4,290,651.00 (Tr. V-42). The trial court entered final judgment in favor of Barbara Leeds in the amount of \$2,975,000.00 and for Michael Leeds in the amount of \$1,500,000.00 (R. 1277-1278).

FHP's motion for new trial was denied (R. 1279-1281). The trial court noted in the order denying the motion for new trial that FHP stipulated at trial that it was negligent (R. 1280). The trial court also noted that there was a duty owed to Plaintiffs when the dispatcher affirmatively indicated that the FHP would be sent immediately to the scene of the disabled tractor-trailer (R. 1280).

From the final judgment and denial of the post-trial motions FHP appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Third District. On November 10, 1999, the District Court of Appeal rendered its decision reversing the final judgment of the trial court. The District Court concluded that the Plaintiff's claim was barred by sovereign immunity. The Third District held:

The FHP argues on this appeal, among other things, that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in its favor

where, as a matter of law, it did not owe the decedents any duty greater than the duty owed to the general public to protect them. <u>See generally Trianon Park Condo. Assoc.</u>, <u>Inc. v. City of Hialeah</u>, 468 So.2d 912, 914-915 (Fla. 1985).... Thus, FHP claims that save the circumstances where the police's duty is deemed operational, or where a special duty has been established between the police and <u>the victim</u>, there is no duty of care to an individual citizen.... We agree with the FHP that the state has no sovereign liability as a matter of established law and find the cases relied upon by the appellees to be distinguishable.

Slip Opinion at 5-6

The Third District also concluded that the operation of a 911 telephone system creates "a duty owed to the public as a whole and not to an individual party who may subsequently be injured by the act of a traffic offender," relying on *Laskey v. Martin County Sheriff's Department*, 708 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 4DCA), *rev. granted* 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1998). Slip Opinion at 10-11. The District Court concluded that FHP's "actions or inactions were not operational in nature and that no special duty was owed to the decedents so as to constitute a waiver of sovereign immunity." Slip Opinion at 11. The Third District certified conflict between its decision and *Hoover v. Polk County Sheriff's Department*, 611 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 2DCA 1993), and *Cook v. Sheriff of Collier County*, 573 So.2d 406 (Fla. 2DCA 1991). Slip Opinion at 11.

On November 24, 1999, Plaintiff invoked this court's discretionary jurisdiction

based upon the conflict certified by the District Court. This court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered that briefs be filed.

IV Statement of the Facts²

At approximately 3:00 A.M. Raul Pedrero was headed home (Tr. I-69-70). While proceeding westbound on State Road 826, a limited access highway, he encountered a stalled tractor trailer in the right-hand lane on the far side of the twenty seventh avenue bridge, which had no markers, lights, or flares (Tr. I-66-67, 69, 81). Most of the street lighting in the area were out which made it even more difficult to see the tractor trailer (Tr. I-69, 82). Pedrero had to slam on his brakes and get into the left lane to avoid crashing into the rear of the tractor-trailer (Tr. I-69).

Pedrero got off the Palmetto at 37th Avenue, went to a gas station dialed 911 and spoke to Metro-Dade (Tr. I-70). He called 911 because it was an emergency (Tr. I-70, 79, 81). Metro-Dade transferred the call to FHP (Tr. I-71). Pedrero advised FHP of the problem with the stalled truck which had no lights on and no warning signs (Tr. I-71, 77-78). He told the dispatcher that he almost hit the truck (Tr. I-77). The dispatcher told Pedrero that he would "send a unit to check it out".³ Pedrero then

² The Leeds will only discuss those facts which are material to the issues raised on appeal by FHP.

³ The 911 tape was played for the jury (Tr. I-71).

went back to 27th Avenue and sat in a parking lot waiting for FHP to show up (Tr. I-72). He waited for twenty or twenty-five (20 or 25) minutes (Tr. I-73). In that period of time he observed many vehicles having to change lanes because of the truck (Tr. I-76). When FHP did not show up after twenty five minutes, Pedrero went home (Tr. I-73, 76).

Paul Dixon is employed by FHP as a highway safety specialist (Tr. I-98). On the day of the accident he worked in the communications center at Troop E of the FHP (Tr. I-99). Subordinate to Dixon were duty officers who answered the telephone, radio, and 911 calls transferred from another agency (Tr. I-104). If the duty officer received a report of a vehicle crash it should be dispatched to the first person available (Tr. I-108-109). On September 5, 1993, there was an existing policy that any call was supposed to be documented and assigned to a trooper (Tr. I-106). If the duty officer did not dispatch a trooper in response to the call, that is contrary to the written policies of FHP (Tr. I-125).

Robert Bostic was working as an FHP dispatcher in Troop E on September 5,

1993 (Bostic p. 12).⁴ Bostic was working the north end console at that time (Bostic p. 13). Duty Officer Cruz answered the first call about a stalled vehicle on the Palmetto Expressway (Bostic p. 15). Bostic first learned that the call about the stalled vehicle had come into the communications center after he received a call from Metro-Dade concerning a double traffic homicide on State Road 826 involving a tractortrailer and a vehicle (Bostic p. 17). At that time, Cruz admitted to Bostic that he had gotten a call approximately a half an hour earlier concerning a tractor-trailer broken down on the roadway (Bostic p. 19). No trooper had been sent in response to the call because Cruz failed to enter the call in the computer (Bostic p. 24). If it had been entered, there would be an entry in Bostic's status screen that he had a call pending which there was not (Bostic p. 24). If Bostic had seen such an entry he would have sent a trooper (Bostic p. 24). At no time prior to the report of the double homicide had Cruz informed Bostic about a stalled tractor-trailer on the Palmetto Expressway (Bostic p. 25). Bostic testified that a disabled tractor-trailer in the roadway would rate as a top priority for the assignment of a trooper (Bostic p. 31).

James Brierton is a captain with FHP (Tr. IV-27). In 1993 he was in charge of the communication center for Troop E (Tr. IV-29). Duty Officer Wilfredo Cruz made

⁴ Portions of the videotaped deposition of Robert Bostic, an FHP duty officer who was on duty on the night of the fatal accident, were shown to the jury. This deposition shall be referred to as "Bostic".

a mistake in failing to enter the information that was taken from Mr. Pedrero into the computer (Tr. IV-32-33). As a result a trooper was not sent out (Tr. IV-33, 64). Troopers were available to answer the call if it had gone out (Tr. IV-64).

Crash prevention and investigation are primary functions of FHP troopers (Tr. I-108). A vehicle stalled in the outside lane of the expressway with no lights or flashers would rate fairly high as a life threatening situation (Tr. I-110).

In September of 1993, FHP policy required a trooper to be in touch with the duty officer every thirty (30) minutes (Tr. I-111). The reason that duty officers call the troopers every half an hour is to find out the location of the troopers (Tr. I-129, III-50).

On the night of the fatal accident, Troopers Kurnick and Avalos were concerned with a reckless driver at 2:40 a.m. (Tr. I-113-114). They cleared at 3:40 a.m. (Tr. I-114). Trooper Dunigan left the station at 2:52 a.m. (Tr. I-115). There is no indication in FHP's records as to where he went (Tr. I-115-116). Trooper Nunez was located on Southwest 8th Street, in service, on patrol, and available to answer the call in question (Tr. I-117). Trooper Gonzalez's last location was given at 12:32 a.m. and his next entry is 4:15 a.m. (Tr. I-118). According to the records three and a half (3 ¹/₂) hours went by and no one from dispatch spoke to Trooper Gonzalez (Tr. I-118). Trooper Jones, at 1:57 a.m. was at 103rd Street and State road 826 (Tr. I-121).

According to the FHP printout Troopers Kurnick, Avalos, Dunigan, Nunez, Gonzalez,

Jones, and possibly Alter were available to respond to Pedrero's 911 call (Tr. I-122-

123).

Further recitation of the facts is reserved to the argument portion of this brief

to prevent duplication.

V Points Involved on Appeal

<u>Point I</u>

WHETHER THE FAILURE OF THE FHP DISPATCHER TO INPUT PEDRERO'S INFORMATION CONCERNING THE STALLED TRACTOR-TRAILER TOGETHER WITH THE FAILURE TO SEND A TROOPER TO THE SCENE OF THE STALLED TRACTOR-TRAILER INVOLVE AN OPERATIONAL RATHER THAN DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION WHICH DOES NOT IMPACT THE SPECIAL DUTY DOCTRINE?

Point II

WHETHER FHP OWED SUZANNE A DUTY EXISTENT UNDER THE COMMON LAW AND FLORIDA STATUTES?

> VI Summary of the Argument

> > I

The FHP's failure to dispatch a trooper is an operational function for which sovereign immunity has been waived. The decision was not judgmental. It did not involve an allocation of resources since multiple troopers were available to take the call. Moreover, the dispatcher agreed to send a trooper but simply forgot to enter into the computer so that no trooper was dispatched. Under these circumstances the negligence of FHP in the case at bar related to an operational function for which sovereign immunity has been waived. There is no need to establish a special duty since the FHP's negligence related to an operational function. The final judgment of the trial court should be reinstated by this Court.

Π

The evidence in this case established that FHP assumed the obligation to send a trooper to the scene of the disabled tractor-trailer in response to the 911 call by Pedrero. Having assumed the obligation, it had a duty to exercise reasonable care in its performance of the obligation.

A duty is also owed as a result of the State's ownership of the limited access highway where the accident took place and the state's control of the highway through FHP. The evidence established that the State through FHP had notice of the stalled tractor-trailer located in the right lane of a limited access highway with its lights off and with no reflectors or other warnings. FHP had an obligation to warn other motorists of the hazard posed by the tractor-trailer. This it failed to do. A private citizen would be liable for a failure to warn invitees and business guests of latent which are known to him. Under §768.28, Fla. Stat., the State is also liable for this failure. There is a common law duty owed by the State to Suzanne and The Leeds. The final judgment of the trial court should be reinstated by this Court.

VII <u>Argument</u>

<u>Point I</u>

THE FAILURE OF THE FHP DISPATCHER TO INPUT PEDRERO'S INFORMATION CONCERNING THE STALLED TRACTOR-TRAILER TOGETHER WITH THE FAILURE TO SEND A TROOPER TO THE SCENE OF THE STALLED TRACTOR-TRAILER INVOLVE AN OPERATIONAL RATHER THAN DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION WHICH DOES NOT IMPACT THE SPECIAL DUTY DOCTRINE

With regard to the waiver of sovereign immunity for operational functions, the

need to establish a special duty was abolished by Commercial Carrier Corp. v.

Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979). There this court indicated:

Predicating liability upon the "governmental-proprietary" and "special duty-general duty" analyses has drawn severe criticism from numerous courts and commentators. Consequently, we cannot attribute to the legislature the intent to have codified the rules of municipal sovereign immunity through enactment of section 768.28, Florida

Statutes (1975)....Were it the intent of the legislature merely to make the law of municipal sovereign immunity applicable to the state, its agencies and political subdivisions, there would have been no need to include municipalities within the operation of the statute. Consequently, we concluded that *Modlin* and its ancestry and progeny have no continuing vitality subsequently to the effective date of section 768.28.

Id. at 1016.

In Everton v. Willard, 468 So.2d 936, 938 (Fla. 1985), this court indicated that the

existence of a special duty was relevant only were the case involved a basic judgmental

or discretionary governmental function as opposed to an operational function:

There has never been a common law duty of care owed to an individual with respect to the discretionary judgmental power granted a police officer to make an arrest and to enforce the law. This discretionary power is considered basic to the police power function of governmental entities and is recognized as critical to a law enforcement officer's ability to carry out his duties. [Citations Omitted]. We recognize that, if a special relationship exists between an individual and a governmental entity, there could be a duty of care owed to the individual. This relationship is illustrated by the situation in which the police accept the responsibility to protect a particular person who has assisted them in the arrest or prosecution of criminal defendants and the individual is in danger due to that assistance. In such a case, a special duty to use reasonable care in the protection of the individual may arise.

In its opinion below, the District Court of Appeal recognized that where the duty is

deemed operational, the special duty doctrine is inapplicable. Slip Opinion at pp. 5-6.⁵ For the reasons which follow, the instant case involves an operational rather than a discretionary function of the government. There is no need to establish a special duty in the case at bar.

Initially, there is no question in this cause that FHP was negligent. Counsel for FHP conceded FHP's negligence during his opening statement (Tr. I-52). On the record he could not have taken any other position. Briefly summarized, the facts are that FHP was advised by Pedrero of the problem with the stalled truck with no lights or reflectors in the right westbound lane of State Road 826 (Tr. I-71). This was a high priority call for FHP which is concerned with traffic safety (Bostic 36, Tr. I-110). <u>The dispatcher advised Pedrero that FHP would send a unit to check it out (Tr. I-71). The call was not entered in the computer by the dispatcher and no trooper was ever sent (Tr. IV-32-33, Bostic 24). The failure to dispatch a trooper after receipt of the call concerning the disabled vehicle with the lights out was against the written policies of</u>

⁵ The Third District's decision in *Simpson v. City of Miami*, 700 So.2d 87 (Fla. 3DCA 1997) also has bearing on the instant case. There the court was concerned with the actions of a police officer in failing to secure a domestic violence injunction violator in a police cruiser. The officer released the violator who subsequently murdered the complainant/victim. *Simpson* involved a non judgmental police function since the statute required the arrest of a violator of a domestic violence injunction. The opinion does not discuss the need for a special duty to be owed to the victim in order for there to be actionable negligence. Sovereign immunity is inapplicable to such claims.

FHP (Tr. I-125).⁶ Multiple troopers were available to respond if the call had gone out and would have been at the scene of the tractor-trailer long before Suzanne (Tr. I-122-123, IV-64). The Third District in its opinion below noted that "officers were available to answer the call had it gone out." Slip Opinion at 3, ftn. 3. Forty-five (45) minutes later, Suzanne's vehicle proceeding westbound in the outside lane of State Road 826, at the speed limit, crashed into the back of the unmarked, unlit tractor-trailer.⁷

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