#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO: 1999-41** 

MICHAEL LEEDS and BARBARA LEEDS, as Personal Representatives of the Estate of SUZANNE LEEDS, deceased,

Petitioners,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY PATROL, an agency of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF STATE OF FLORIDA ON THE MERITS

By: SHERIDAN WEISSENBORN, FBN 165960 & CHARLES C. PAPY, JR. FBN 061053, OF

PAPY, WEISSENBORN, POOLE & VRASPIR P.A.

SUITE 214, 3001 PONCE DE LEON BLVD.

CORAL GABLES, FLA. 33134

PHONE: (305) 446-5100

## **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

FHP had no duty to the Plaintiff's deceased daughter to prevent her from being involved in a traffic accident other than the duty owed to the general public. The duty owed at the time of the accident to the Plaintiff was not greater than the duty owed to the public at large for which there has never been a waiver of

sovereign immunity unless there was a special relationship between the injured party and the governmental agency. No such relationship existed in this case.

The common law does not require an individual to be responsible for the conduct of others with whom they have no relationship and no statutory duty exists, to this effect.

The Third District correctly analyzed the situation and determined that without a special duty being owed to the Plaintiff a verdict should have been given to FHP.

### **ARGUMENT**

I.

THE FHP WAS ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ISSUE OF LIABILITY SINCE THE ONLY DUTY OWED TO THE PLAINTIFFS WAS THE SAME DUTY OWED TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AT LARGE

This cause is before this Court for review because the Third District Court of Appeal had determined that the Plaintiff had failed to show that a special duty was owed to his decedent daughter, however, in so holding the Third District acknowledged the instant case was factually similar to the <u>Cook</u> and <u>Hoover</u>, decisions, although procedurally they were distinguishable. Therefore, the Third

District noted a conflict and the Plaintiff filed his request for discretionary review.

The procedural difference is clear. The <u>Cook</u> and <u>Hoover</u> decisions were based upon appellate review of granted motions to dismiss with prejudice. The instant case was tried and all the evidence was before the court. In neither <u>Cook</u> nor <u>Hoover</u> did the District Court actually analyze the duty issues. The Court simply held there were sufficient allegations of duty when taken as true for the purposes of a motion to dismiss.

In his Brief the Plaintiff contends that the decision of the Third District should be reversed because the acts of FHP were all operational level activities, which create a duty of care regardless of whether there is a special duty owed to the Plaintiff. In short the Plaintiffs are arguing that the acts of FHP were category IV functions as set forth in the case of <a href="Trianon Park Condominium Association, Inc.">Trianon Park Condominium Association, Inc.</a>, <a href="V. City of Hialeah">V. City of Hialeah</a> 468 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1985) Therefore, the Plaintiffs conclude that because the acts of FHP were category IV functions liability attaches. FHP would respectfully submit that the Plaintiffs argument is misplaced and that the decision of the District Court of Appeal was correct.

In order for the Plaintiffs to hold FHP responsible for the automobile accident that killed their daughter it was incumbent upon the Plaintiffs to establish that a duty was owed to their daughter that was a separate duty apart from that duty that was

owed to the public at large. Everton v. Willard, 468 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1985) This duty may be established either by showing that there was a common law duty or that there was a statutory duty imposed upon the agency by the law makers and in the event that no such duties lie then by establishing that there was the special relationship that had been created between the Plaintiffs' decedent and FHP.

#### Trianon: Everton<sup>2</sup>

In the instant case there was no common law duty and there was no statutory duty. Therefore, if any duty were owed to the Plaintiffs' decedent it would have had to have been a special duty. However, no such duty existed.

The Plaintiffs attempt to overcome their failure to prove a special relationship in various ways. One way is by claiming that FHP's acts were not discretionary. Another way in which they try to alleviate this special duty requirement is by trying to establish that the internal operations manual of FHP created a statutory duty. Yet, another way is to claim that FHP was the owner of the highway, and, therefore, it owed the traditional landowners duties. It is respectfully submitted that the only way in which the Plaintiffs could have carried their burden was to show that a special duty existed between Suzanne and FHP at the time of the crash and because they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The existence of a duty is of course a matter of law for the Court to decide. <u>Trianon; McCain v. Florida Power Corp.</u>, 593 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1992)

could not do so they were not entitled to recover from FHP.

This Court has consistently stated that §768.28 Fla. Stat. does not create new duties of care so in interpreting the duty question the courts are required to look only to the common law or the statutory law that has been passed as previously stated. Kaisner v. Kolb, 543 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1989) Furthermore, it is the well-established law of this state that in order for there to be governmental tort liability, in instances where the plaintiff is injured as a result of the negligence of another there must be a special duty of care owed to the individual who has been injured as versus the duty owed to the public at large. Trianon; Everton; Modlin v. City of Miami Beach, 201 So.2d 70 (Fla. 1967); Vann v. Department of Corrections, 662 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1995).

It is the common law that no duty is imposed upon an individual to act for the protection of others irrespective of the gravity of the danger to which the other is subjected and the insignificance of the trouble, effort, or expense of giving him the aid or protection. *Restatement (Second) of Torts§ 314* and *comment c thereto*. Likewise, the common law provides that a person is not required to prevent harm to a claimant from the misconduct of third persons. § 315 Restatement (Second) of Torts. Hence, at common law there was clearly no duty owed to the Plaintiffs for the injury sustained by their daughter in the instant case because there would have

been not duty to come to Suzanne's aid nor was there any duty to protect her from any harm that would result from the misconduct of a third person. In this case the harm that would be caused to her by Banegas' violation of the traffic laws. The Plaintiff, however, would ask this court to create a new duty and impose liability on FHP and, hence, the tax payers. The Plaintiffs ask this Court to impose this duty even though there is absolutely no proof that the collision would have been avoided had a trooper been dispatched to the scene of the accident when the phone call from Pedrero came into the communications center and regardless of the fact there was no proof presented by the Plaintiff that established that had FHP done so the accident would not have occurred.<sup>3</sup>

The Plaintiffs argue that a law enforcement unit is liable without a special duty being owed to the injured party, if the action is not discretionary. They have misapprehended the law. This Court reiterated its language in <a href="Everton">Everton</a> in the <a href="Vann">Vann</a> case wherein at 938 it is stated as follows:

A governmental duty to protect its citizens is a general duty to the public as a whole and where there is only a general duty to protect the public there is no duty of care to an individual citizen which may result

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> No expert testified that had a trooper gone to the scene this accident would have been avoided. The only such evidence was a speculation on the part of the Plaintiff that only one out of a million times would an accident occur if a blue and white had been at the scene, while there was evidence a trooper being there does not always prevent an accident. (TR Vol. 3; 48)

#### in liability.

It is important to note that <u>Vann</u> involved the death of an individual who had been murdered by an escaped convict. If ever there were a situation where there was no discretion, it would be under the facts in <u>Vann</u> and yet this Court determined that there would be no liability even though the Corrections Department had failed to keep the convict in its custody. Hence, under the Plaintiffs theory of this case the result in <u>Vann</u> should have been different. Surely, there was no discretion or judgmental decision to make in order to keep the convict in custody. The Department's obligations were clear. Yet, this Court recognized that there was no duty that was owed to Mrs. Vann.

In their Brief the Plaintiffs rely upon the case of <u>Hartley v. Floyd</u>, 512 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1987), which this Court refused to consider and argues that the denial of a finding that sovereign immunity did not apply in the instant case was consistent therewith. The Plaintiffs are in error. In <u>Hartley</u>, the Plaintiff established a special duty was owed to Mrs. Hartley. The District Court pointed out that the deputy sheriff advised the window of the deceased that they would check the boat ramp and also advised her later that they had checked the ramp and that her husband's truck was not there, all of which was untrue. The District Court determined the sheriff owed a duty to Mrs. Floyd not to lie to her about checking

the boat ramp because that prevented her from starting a search for her husband and the fishing party he had been with until it was too late to save Mr. Floyd. Mr. Floyd's truck was apparently still at the dock.

Clearly there was a special relationship that existed between Mrs. Floyd and the sheriff when the sheriff agreed to check, causing her not to do so because she relied upon his promise to do so to her detriment. In the instant case we have no such promise or reliance to Suzanne. The only duty that was owed to her was a general duty owed to the general public. The Plaintiffs attempt to claim otherwise, however, by claiming that because Officer Cruz had indicated to Mr. Pedrero that he would send someone out to the scene that was a sufficient special relationship between FHP and Suzanne, lest the relationship was between Pedrero and FHP, not with any detrimental reliance by Suzanne. The act of going to the scene is discretionary. See <u>Kaisner vs. Kolb</u> 543 So.2d. 732 (Fla. 1989). Whether there were or were not available officers, therefore, 4 is not supportive of Plaintiffs' position because the Plaintiffs are asking this Court to impose liability for all law enforcement cases declaring that there was a duty to protect all motorists.

There has never been, in law, an obligation imposed on government to enforce regulations or statutes designed to promote public convenience, the general

The theory espoused by the Plaintiffs.

prosperity, public welfare, or those designed to promote public safety or health and legislative enactments for the benefit of the general public do not automatically create independent duty to either an individual citizen or a specific class of citizens. Trianon, supra.; Everton; Burnsed v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad Company, 290 So.2 13 (Fla. 1974) This is why this Court still recognizes that governmental liability is largely confined to situations where there is some special relationship created by the plaintiff and the government . See Vann; Trianon, supra.

A special relationship may be illustrated where the police accept a responsibility to protect a particular person who has assisted them in an arrest or prosecution of criminal defendants and the individual is in danger due to that assistance. In such a case, a special duty to use reasonable care in the prosecution of the individual may arise. Everton, 938

This Court held in Everton at page 938 that:

a law enforcement officer's duty to protect citizens is a general duty owed to the public as a whole and the victim of a criminal offense, which might have been prevented through reasonable law enforcement action does not establish a common law duty of care to the individual citizen resulting in tort liability absent a special relationship.

This Court went on to discuss that the majority of the jurisdictions have adopted this policy, which is not surprising given the fact that the common law did not

impose a duty upon an individual to protect one from harm that might be caused by the misconduct of another. § 315 Restatement. Plaintiffs in this case overlook the fact that what is really at issue is the failure to protect through reasonable law enforcement.

In Wong vs. City of Miami 237 So.3d 132 (Fla. 1970) this Court held that the strategy and the tactics of whom to deploy and when to deploy the police powers is the inherent right of the sovereign and hence the sovereign must be left to be free to choose the tactics deemed appropriate without worry over possible allegations of negligence. An instance where deployment may prevent harm and yet this Court recognized that the police powers may not be interfered with by finding The Plaintiffs, however, wish to make the failure to responsibility for injury. deploy a unit to the scene to protect a citizen who was like any other citizen actionable and claim strategy and tactics were not at issue. The right to send a trooper or not must not be interfered with because it is clearly an inherent police power left to the discretion of FHP and trying to carve out exceptions would cripple the ability of FHP to run free of worry about what is going to happen if I do this as versus that. There would be no rational basis to carve out an exception albeit the Plaintiffs have suffered a great loss.

In support of their position, the Plaintiffs argue that the internal policies and

procedures should be deemed formulating a duty which otherwise does not exist in law. They argue that FHP had a common law duty and its internal policies imposed upon FHP a duty to warn of a latent hazard of which it had knowledge. At no time has there ever been a duty imposed upon law enforcement to warn of a latent danger as if law enforcement were an owner of land. Plaintiffs' argument is simply misplaced. Plaintiffs argue, however, that this is exactly the duty imposed upon FHP, a duty to warn of a latent danger. However, just in case this Court does not believe there is a duty to warn of a latent danger the Plaintiffs fall back on a theory that there was a statutorily imposed duty by virtue of the internal operating procedures of FHP.

In support of their statutorily imposed duty, the Plaintiffs rely upon the Hoover case for the proposition that internal policies may create a duty or standard of care. Hoover does not stand for such a proposition. The District Court made no ruling with regard to whether the internal procedures did or did not create such a duty. No analysis was made at all in this regard in Hoover. The only analysis the District Court made was that until proven otherwise the complaint sufficiently alleged facts to overcome a motion to dismiss. What the Court said was that they agreed there was no common law duty to remove the abandoned vehicle, which had caused the accident. However, because there were allegations of a duty raised by

They relied upon their decision in <u>Cook</u>, wherein the Court stated that because there were no policies before it on the motion they could not determine whether there was an obligation imposed upon the sheriff to relay information. No determination was made concerning whether internal policies did or did not create a duty.

It appears there are no Florida cases on point regarding the force and effect of internal agency protocols, procedures or employee manuals and whether they should be construed to create any duties owed to others. The Third District looked to other jurisdictions for this proposition. See page 9 of their decision below. It is respectfully submitted that although there is no case on point in Florida the other jurisdictions are in accord with Florida law in that only the Florida legislature has the exclusive authority to determine the extent to which any Department may adopt rules which would have the force and effect of law. See <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1978)

It is axiomatic, therefore, that fundamental and primary policy decisions shall be made by the legislature. <u>Askew</u>, supra. Moreover, in order to be deemed a rule which is operative and binding the power to promulgate said rule must be defined from some statutory base and such a rule may not enlarge, any provision of any Florida statutes. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Florida

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